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1933 - 1983

It was in the summer of 1932 that a young graduate from Capital University Theological Seminary, Columbus, Ohio, came to Parma to organize a new Lutheran Congregation.  He was the Reverend Clarence Weiss, who received his support from the Mission Committee of the Ohio District of the American Lutheran Church.  His encouragement came from Hope Lutheran Congregation and its pastor, the Reverend A. M. Wagner, D.D. and from Mr. & Mrs. Edgar Davis, who lived in the area and were members of Hope Church.

Many house calls were made in the community.  It was decided to hold the first service on October 20, 1932.  About forty adults and children gathered in a storeroom at 5326 State Road in Parma.

Late in 1932, a Studio Chapel was erected at the west end of a lot at the northwest corner of North Avenue and Broadview Road.  The address was 2110 North Avenue.

The Studio Chapel was dedicated on Sunday, January 22, 1933.  The congregation was organized that day, and Pastor Clarence Weiss was officially installed as the pastor.  A crowd of 300 attended that day in spite of inclement weather.

Pastor Weiss and his mother, Helen Weiss, occupied four rooms.  The fifth, a march larger room, was used for worship and for various meetings.  As the congregation grew, classes were held in the living room and in the kitchen.

The Sunday School was organized on January 29, 1933 with 45 in attendance.  Within a few months the Sunday School outgrew the small building, so the men of the congregation gave unstintingly of their time, labor and materials, as they excavated under the chapel for a room to house the Primary Department.  This work was completed in September, 1933.  This basement room was used by the Sunday School until 1952 when the Sunday School moved into the new Educational Building.  The basement room was used as a church nursery, during worship services, until 1960.

The charter membership of the congregation, as of March, 1933 included the following:

Auping, Victor & Lynda

Bailey, E. O. & Esther

Bluhn, Herman

Connors, Helen

Davis, Edgar & Maude

Dinse, Fred, Emma Hazel, Esther, & Ruth

Franz, Alma

Gockerell, John, Fredo, & Dorothy

Grugal, Myrtle

Hagan, Elmer & Edna

Kindinger, Philip

Korchoff, Lydia

Peters, Andy & Herlen

Reinker, Martin & Esther

Richardson, Henry & Doris

Schell, Daind & Dora

Scheutzow, Fred, Meta & Dorothy

Vogel, Fred & Christine

Weiss, Charles & Helen

Twelve girls and two boys composed the first Confirmation class of Parma Lutheran Church.  On Sunday, April 14, 1935, the following youth were confirmed: Jean Laws, Natalie Dommin, Ruth Dommin, June Dommin, Ruth Tibbets, Grace Schurig, Dorothy Kiss, Catherine Spanagel, Eileen Roller, Margaret Gockerell, Doris Anderson, Evelyn Anderson, Robert Kuntz, and Wallace Franz.

The church was incorporated under the laws of Ohio on March 17, 1937, and recorded in Volume 447, page 643 of the Records of Incorporations.

On Sunday, January 23, 1938, a celebration began and included the next three evenings, marking the Fifth Anniversary of the congregation.  At that time the baptized membership was 266.  The Sunday School had 125 pupils with eleven teachers and officers.

In June, 1938, Pastor Weiss accepted a Call to Hope Lutheran Church, Dayton, Ohio.  At a congregational meeting, September 18, 1938, a Call was extended to the Reverend Walter P. Schmidt of Detroit Michigan.  He accepted the Call and was installed on November 20, 1938, as the second pastor of Parma Lutheran Church.

A house at 2825 Oak Park Avenue was rented for Pastor and Mrs. Schmidt.  All of the rooms in the Studio Chapel were needed for the work of the congregation.  As the membership increased it was necessary to have two Sunday worship services.

Soon it was evident that the building needed enlarging.  On August 20, 1939, some 276 people gathered for the groundbreaking service for the new addition.  Three weeks later, September 10, 1939, the cornerstone was laid.  The next three months were glorious months.  People overflowed the double worship services.  The Sunday School enrollment passed the 200 mark.  During 1939 there were 130 new members who united with the congregation. 

On December 3, 1939, about 400 people gathered for the Dedication of the new addition.  Special services were held during that week.  The addition to the Studio Chapel provided seating for 140 in pews, also an attractive chancel, and a space for a small choir and sacristy.

The 1940 Confirmation Class, prepared by Pastor Schmidt, consisted of two girls and two boys.  They were confirmed on Palm Sunday, March 17, 1940.

Parma Lutheran’s Boy Scout Troop #23 was one of the early troops organized in the Cleveland area.

On September 14, 1941, the new parsonage was dedicated.  This parsonage was used by Pastors Schmidt, Willmann, Neiswander, and Guth until 1969 when it was sold.  At that time a larger house was purchased at 1310 Brookview Boulevard.  Pastor Guth and family were the first occupants.

During 1941 a monthly publication was started call “The Messenger.”  As the membership increased, two Luther Leagues were organized; a Willing Worker’s Society and a Men’s Club began to function.  In 1942 the north wall of the church was removed and an addition constructed doubling the size of the church’s pew section.  The addition was called the Annex.  It was dedicated on July 26, 1942.  It had a stage on the Broadview Road end and connected with the Studio Chapel at the west end.  The room was divided into 2 classrooms with Monk’s cloth curtains.  At one time ten classes used it for Sunday School.

At the end of 10 years, the congregation numbered 490 communicant members with a baptized list of 750.  The Sunday School with a Cradle Roll had reached 250.

During World War II, 91 men and 3 women from the congregation served in the military forces of our country.

Pastor Schmidt preached his farewell sermon on Sunday, April 28, 1946, having accepted the call to become pastor of Emmanuel Lutheran Church in Warren, Ohio.  During the next five months, our shepherdless flock was guided by the Reverend A. M. Wagner, D.D., who had retired from Hope Lutheran Church, East Cleveland after 37 years of faithful service.

On August 25, 1946, the congregation extended a Call to the Reverend R. Wayne Willmann, pastor of Zion Lutheran Church, St. Marys, Ohio.  He accepted the Call and was installed on October 6, 1946.

On July 27, 1947, a Development Council was appointed by the Church Council.  Plans were made to purchase a site, located between North Avenue and Tuxedo Avenue, on the west frontage of Broadview Road.  Our Church building stands on that location today.  It comprises almost 2 acres of land.  Most of the area was purchased at delinquent tax sales.  All but three lots were purchased for $6,800.  The last three parcels were bought from individuals for $6,500 making a total of $13,300 that was spent for the site.

The first meeting of the Altar Guild was held on March 4, 1947, with seven ladies present.  Up to that time, Mrs. William Korchoff had assumed responsibility for the Altar care.  She lived near the church at 2314 North Avenue.

On June 27, 1947, we used Forestvue Park, 9377 West Ridgewood Drive, for our church picnic.  About 350 people attended the outdoor worship service at 10:00 AM.  After a picnic lunch, games and contests were held for every age group.

In 1947 the pastor and members of our Boy Scout Troop spent several afternoons in Parma Heights, visiting from house to house, to determine how many people would be interested in having a Lutheran Church in their community.  A few months later our pastor and a few Sunday School teachers began to conduct classes each Sunday at noon in Parma Heights.  Our first daughter congregation, Divinity Lutheran Church, was organized in September 1948.

Beginning in 1948 and extending into 1953, we used the services of three young women as Parish Workers.  They were Marjorie Schmehl in 1948, Carolyn Frey in 1949 and Jean Minneman in 1952.  Previously, five women volunteered their services to do office work.  Each served one day each week.  They were Christine Thommayer, Maude Davis, Lydia Korchoff, Frieda Kugal, and Ruth Wendt.

Throughout the years Parma Lutheran has participated in many recreational activities.  The church bowling league, organized in 1942, is still active today.  The Parma area churches organized a softball league in 1947.  Parma Lutheran was represented in the league and coached by Herb Horn and Jack Gromen.  For over forty years PLC’s teams have competed in various leagues and usually have been strong contenders and won their share of championships.  We have also had Junior High, Senior High, and Men’s basketball teams.

The Sunday before Palm Sunday, March 14, 1948, the nine members of the Confirmation Class participated in a special service at 4:00 PM.  The Class held its public examination (a question and answer session on the Bible and Luther’s Catechism).  Members of the class also provided musical selections, vocal numbers, Scripture readings, and prayer.  Similar services by the Confirmation classes were held for many years.

A 54-passenger bus was purchased by our Brotherhood in 1948.  Fourteen children were transported to Sunday School on the first trip, July 11, 1948.  In a few months, the bus was filled each Sunday.  The bus was used for about four years, transporting Sunday School children and Luther League members to various events.

November, 1948 marked the first issue of a monthly news palphlet which was called, “The Shoptalk.”

Members received it monthly for 25 years when it was replaced by our current newsletter, “Son Beams.”

The Reverend & Mrs. Carl Oberdorfer, missionaries from India, spoke at worship services on April 20, 1949.  The women of our church presented them with a White sewing machine for their work in India.  On October 9, 1949, at 3:00 PM the first Latvian Lutheran service was held in our building.  There were 89 in attendance.

The Reverend O. Gulbis, a member of an L.C.A. congregation in Akron, conducted the service.  Fifty-six at the service were displaced persons from Europe.

Mr & Mrs. Oscar Herman, members of Parma Lutheran, were active in this group.  194 became members during the first year.  Today, they have their own church home at 1385 Andrews Street in Cleveland.

On February 12, 1950, our congregation approved the purchase of Lot 33 located north of the store building on Broadview Road for $1,500.  This completed the purchase of land until the lot south of the store would be purchased in 1955.

Groundbreaking services for the Educational Unit were held on Sunday, March 18, 1951, at 3:00 PM.  The Reverend Edwin Prange, St. Paul’s Lutheran, Berea, preached the sermon.  The Reverend Carl Hacker, pastor of our daughter congregation, Divinity Lutheran, served as Lector.  Pastor Willmann was Liturgist.  Participating in the groundbreaking ceremony were Mayor of Parma, Lawrence Stary, Architect Paul Ruth, and various members of the congregation.

The cornerstone was laid on Sunday, October 7, 1951.  The contents of the cornerstone (hear base of tower) are: Constitution of the congregation, membership lists for Sunday School and congregation, copy of Parma Post, Lutheran Standard, Shoptalk, Sunday School, and church hymnals, Luther’s Small Catechism, a church bulletin, Order for Service of Groundbreaking, Choir Robe Dedication Service, 15th Anniversary History of the congregation, names of church officers, names of Development Council members, a copy of the Holy Bible, names of the Architect and Construction Company.

Our choirs have always been a valuable part of our church life.  On September 30, 1951, the three choirs gave a special program.  Sixty-four singers participated.  Each choir had its own officers and choirmother who cared for the robes.

The Deagon Cathedral Chimes for the organ were dedicated on Sunday, March 16, 1952.  They consist of 25 tubular bronze bells with a polished gold finish.  The Sunday School pupils raised the money and presented the chimes to the congregation.  They were added to the new organ when the new sanctuary was built.  Five men: Herman Schumacher, Raymond Montie, Henry Merkle, Al Kraemer & Jacob Pease spent over 230 hours of their spare time installing all the light fixtures in the new Educational Unit.

Parents of Sunday School pupils took a special offering to help furnish the various classrooms with drapes.  Two volunteers, Mrs. Donald Ritcher and Mrs. Karl Bitt, made all the drapes in Ann’s Draper Shop.

Many people donated their time and energy to help level the area around the Educational Unit and plant grass seed.

National Education Week in the American Lutheran Church was selected for the Dedication of the new Educational Unit.  The Reverend Raymond Vogeley, Director of Parish Education of the A.L.C. was the speaker at the morning worship services and 

Dr. Otto Ebert, President of the Ohio District, spoke at the 3:00 PM service.

1953 found finishing touches being made in the Educational Unit with Emil Lade finishing the cupboards and work counter in the kitchen.  Howard Sagert installing the kitchen sinks, and Jack Taus completing work on the shield above the stove.

In June, 1953, we began two identical Sunday School sessions, one at 9:15 AM and the other at 10:45 AM.  The response was excellent and attendance continued to increase.

Our first contract with the Parma City School District to use 5 of our classrooms was dated October 14, 1953.  This proved to be a good source of revenue until 1962 when the Parma School system no longer needed the space.

On January 9, 1955, the congregation authorized the purchase of the corner lot at the N.W. corner of Tuxedo and Broadview Road.  One of our members, Arthur Gockel, had purchased the lot for $4,000 several years before and held it for the church to buy from him at no cost.

On July 1, 1955, we began to use Theological students as interns — one each year for 13 years.  Each intern assisted the pastor and participated in all the work of the parish.  It was a year of learning.  Our first intern was William Hahn, from Salem Lutheran Church, Detroit, Michigan.

An Ordination Service was held on July 31, 1955, for George Edward Gaiser.  He previously had served in the Evangelical & Reformed ministry for 23 years.  He accepted a call to serve St. Paul’s Church in Cleveland.

A large wood replica of the 3-tier birthday cake was made by intern Hahn and George Sennhauser.  This was used at the 5 PM Christmas Eve Family Service each year until 1973.

1956 marked the first year for Parma Lutheran to hold three Holy Week Services: Wednesday, Thursday, and Friday.  On Easter morning four services were held.

At the Church Council meeting in April, 1956, the Superintendent of the Sunday School, Albert Stueber, pleaded for more teachers and for more room to house the classes.

On June 17, our members voted to proceed with plans for additional church facilities.  National Fund Raising Services, Inc. was contracted to supervise a financial campaign in our congregation, beginning on August 5, 1956.

Our second intern, John Rydgren, arrived on July 1, 1956.  He graduated from Pacific Lutheran College before entering Lutheran Theological Seminary, Columbus, Ohio.

At the Annual Business Meeting in 1956, the congregation approved the construction of Unit II of the Building Program.  This unit would include a large worship center, chapel, lounge, library, pastors’ offices, nursery room, kitchenette, choir room, two classrooms, and restrooms.  Construction was to begin in to years.

“The Washer of Hands” was the Easter play, directed by Intern John Rydgren, with a cast consisting of Mr. & Mrs. Edward Ruther, Mrs. June (Haller) Ackerman, Jack Taus, and Mrs. Andrew Krizan.  The proceeds, $500.00, were cent to Capital Theological Seminary to help in the construction of 36 apartments for married students.

Mothers’ Day afternoon, May 12, 1957, Pastor Willmann conducted the first service for Lutherans in Broadview Heights.  It was held in the basement of the Wesley Brunswick home on Oakes Road.  This was the first step in establishing Triune Lutheran Church, chartered in July, 1959.  In the autumn of 1957 the services were moved to the Wallings Road School.

Our third Intern, Thomas Wolfe, arrived on July 1, 1957.  He was a native of Michigan City, Indiana.  His wife, Nancy, taught a 4th grade in the Parma Schools.

During 1957 our Sunday School helped support Missionary Reverend Edward Rice in La Paz, Bolivia.  Money was also sent to support a boy in India.  He wrote a very informative letter of thanks and signed it “Your child in Christ — Royalapalle Jeya Raju.”

The Reverend Samuel Kleeman, D.D. a Lutheran pastor from East Germany, and official delegate to the Lutheran World Convention in Minneapolis, spoke to our people on September 8, 1957.  Later that evening he also met with our young people.

On November 12, 1957, Pastor Willmann was elected President of the Cleveland Church Federation.  He was the first Lutheran to hold that position in the 47 years of its history.

Three sessions of Sunday School began on November 24, at 9:00 AM, 10:00 AM and 11:00 AM.  Three worship services were held at the same hours in the old church building.  Services were limited to 50 minutes.  Extra parking lot attendants were needed to move traffic rapidly.  Truly God was blessing Parma Lutheran with many seeking souls as they would stand in line outside the old church building waiting for the 9:00 AM and 10:00 AM services to close so they could enter the church for worship each Sunday.

On December 8, 1957, a meeting was held with the Reverend Dale Lechleitner, Executive of American Missions, and the Reverend Kenneth Priebe, Ohio District President, to examine six plots of land as a possible site for the new church building in the Broadview Heights area.

The first Sunday in October, 1956, 1957, 1958, and 1959, the entire congregation gathered in the Parma Senior High School Auditorium for observance of World Communion Sunday.  This special day was also known as Homecoming Sunday.

On January 12, 1958, the architects, Ward & Conrad were employed to prepare plans for the new church unit.

Ohio District President Kenneth Priebe, D.D. was the guest speaker for the 25th Anniversary Service held on January 26, 1958.

Theodore (Ted) Wendt was ordained into the Holy Ministry on June 8, 1958, the Reverend William Althaus, with whom Ted served his Internship, preached the sermon.

Ted was the first son of our congregation to enter the Lord’s Ministry.  His first parish was St. Paul’s Church in Waldo, Ohio, where he was installed on July 21, 1958.

Intern Thomas Wolfe and wife, Nancy, thanked the congregation for a wonderful year as they left for Tom’s last year in Theological Seminary.  The new intern, William Jeffs arrived on July 1, 1958.

Plans drawn up by the architects Ward and Conrad for the new church unit were formally approved by the congregation on August 17, 1958, and in October the Church Council ordered that bids be obtained.

On February 8, 1959, the congregation voted to employ The Craig Building Company as general contractor for the new unit.  The organ contract for $29,315 was approved.  Organist Warren Berryman assisted in determining the organ specifications.

Groundbreaking services for the new church unit took place on Sunday, March 15, 1959.

On June 19, 1959, Alan Guth arrived to begin his Internship.  He was a native of Graytown, Ohio.  The following July he would have the pleasure of participating in Dedication services for the new church.

On July 16, 1959, we transferred 85 members to become Charter Members for our 2nd daughter congregation, Triune Lutheran in Broadview Heights.

The pews for the new sanctuary were designed here and ordered from Ossit Church Furniture Company, Janesville, Wisconsin.  After the pews arrived, local painters stained all the woodwork to match the pew color.

Parma Lutheran ranked first in the Ohio District with 177 new members for the year of 1959.  Our members were busy bringing in new souls to Christ as workers were busy completing the new church.

The altar for the new church was given by Mrs. Alice Gockel as a memorial for her late husband, Arthur, who had been a member of the choir for many years as well as serving on Church Council.  The new Baptismal Font was given by Mrs. Frieda Miller in memory of her husband Frederick.  The beautiful flower stands were donated by Mr. & Mrs. Harold Baldauf.

The cushions for the Communion Rail were purchased from Bernard-Smithline Company, Little Neck, New York and were given to the congregation by the two Confirmation classes of 1960 and 1961.

In 1960, The American Lutheran Church, The Evangelical Lutheran Church, and the Danish United Evangelical Lutheran Church merged to form the new American Lutheran Church.  Pastor Willmann was a delegate to the Merger Convention in Minneapolis, April 22-24, 1960.

“Come, Ye Thankful People, Come” was the invitation the pastor extended for all to attend the Dedication of the new church facilities on July 10, 1960.  The Reverend Kenneth Priebe, D.D., President of the Ohio District of the American Lutheran Church, was the preacher for Dedication mornings.  In the evening of July 10, a class of 47 was confirmed.

The second day of Dedication was September 11, 1960, at 3:00 PM when the service emphasized the place of the church in the community.  Chaplain Berhard Loeschen of the Cleveland Clinic was the speaker.  Greetings were expressed by Mayor Sylvester Augustine of Parma, the Reverend Howard B. Withers of the Parma Ministers Association, and the Reverend B. Bruce Wittemore, Executive Secretary of the Cleveland Area Church Federation.

The third day of Dedication was Deptember 25th when the value of Christian Education was emphasized with the guest speaker, the Reverend Ted Wendt, a son of the congregation, then living in Waldo, Ohio.

The fourth day of Dedication was Homecoming Sunday held on October 2, 1960, with former pastor the Reverend Walter P. Schmidt from Warren, Ohio, as the speaker.

The special Dedication services were concluded on November 6th when our Music Department presented a service of praise to God with an Organ and Choir Recital that evening.

Our Intern for the year 1960-1961, Glenn Anderson and his wife Audrey, arrived on August 15, 1960.  They were natives of Ada, Minnesota.  Intern Alan Guth and wife, Peggy, returned to the Seminary on August 30, 1960, after spending 14 months at Parma Lutheran.

Beginning on July 17, 1960, the old church building was used for 14 Sunday School classes.  We now held two sessions of Sunday School instead of three, so the overflow had to go to the old church building.

On January 8, 1961, the final report of the Building Committee was presented by the Chairman of the committee, Paul Schellhase.  The report showed a total cost for the new sanctuary of $479,814.27.  This amount, plus interest on the loan, would be paid-in-full just ten years later, on June 17, 1971.

Intern Glenn Anderson completed his year’s work with us on August 14, 1962, the same day his infant son, Theodore, was baptized.  Intern Luther Oelke and his wife, Elin arrived on August 7, 1961, to spend a year with us.

On August 27, 1961, our first ordained Pastoral Assistant was installed.  The Reverend Lynn L. Neiswander came to us after serving four years as pastor of St. Mark Lutheran Church in Columbus, Ohio.  His primary concern was in the area of Parish Education.  He remained with us eighteen months, then accepted a Call to St. Paul’s Church, Alpena, Michigan, where he moved with his wife and four children on February 26, 1963.  The Parma Public Schools suddenly stopped renting rooms for overflow enrollment.  The loss of income from rent made it impossible to have the Associate Pastor.  We were paying $45,000 per year on our church debt.

By the early 1960's Parma Lutheran had become the largest Lutheran Church in Cuyahoga County.  In 1962 the Confirmed membership totaled 1525, the average Sunday attendance for 1961 was 670.  The Vacation Bible School had 260 enrolled.  Sunday School was held in two sessions with 59 teachers conducting the classes for the 585 enrolled.

The first class of candidates for the Bethel Bible Teacher’s Training Course began its work on January 8, 1962.  Two years later, 19 had completed the course of instruction.

Intern Luther Oelke left on June 22, 1962, to return to the Seminary for his last school year.  Our new Intern, Stanley Sultemeier, arrived on July 1.  Both of these young men were graduates of Texas Lutheran College.

The Ellsworth (Al) Glaser Memorial Worship Center, in room 205, across the hall from the church library, was dedicated at the morning service on July 1, 1962.  It was constructed by Frank Riggin.  All had served faithfully as a Bible teacher and Sunday School Superintendent.  On the altar sits the Altar Cross from the old church building, also the bronze holder for the Altar Book from the old building.

The first wedding in the Church Rose Garden was held for Charlotte Culp and Ralph Holter on July 7, 1962.

Intern Stanley Sultemeier and wife, Barbara, returned to the Theological Seminary on June 28.  Intern David Wold and wife, Darlene, had arrived on June 14, 1962 to spend a year with us.

Geraldine (Kubala) Wilkowski brought honors to herself and to the congregation by winning First Place in the National Bethel Concept Contest held at Madison, Wisconsin on August 16, 1963.

On May 31, 1964, a beautiful outdoor sign, facing Broadview Road was dedicated in memory of Miss Alma Schirmer.  It was given to the church by her parents, Mr. & Mrs. Charles Schirmer.

Intern Harvey Bongers and wife arrived on July 19, 1964 to spend a year at Parma Lutheran.  Intern David Wold and wife Darlene departed on July 30th after having completed a year of excellent service with us.

The Confirmation Class of 1965 had 55 members.  One member of the class, Janet Pavlick, had the distinction of receiving her First Communion with 3 other members of her family.  Her mother, Mrs. Harold (Jean) Pavlick, her grandmother, Mrs. Ray (Florence) Montie, and her great grandfather, Charles Einheit, joined her at the Lord’s Table.  It was the first time that four generations of the same family gathered together to receive Holy Communion in Parma Lutheran.  Charles Einheit was the church’s oldest member at the time, age 85.

On July 3, 1965, Dean Hunneshagen and his wife, Brenda, arrived to begin his year’s internship.

James Janke, son of Mr. and Mrs. Edward (Martha) Janke was ordained into the Holy Ministry on July 11, 1965.  Jim was the 2nd son of our congregation to enter the Lord’s Ministry.  His first parish was at Watertown, Wisconsin.

On September 19, 1965, the second class of Bethel Bible Teacher Trainees, consisting of 12 members, graduated, making a total of 31 members trained to teach the Bethel Bible Series.

A special service was held on Sunday afternoon, September 19, 1965, as the church accepted the beautiful Carillon Chimes as a memorial to Michael Bizovsky, given by his beloved wife, Grace.

In 1966, the altar fixtures in the Rose Garden were dedicated in memory of John M. Goody, by his parents, Mr. & Mrs. Peter Goody.

On June 29, 1966, we received the good news that the Reverend Alan W. Guth, then serving Trinity Lutheran Church, Chicago, Illinois, had accepted our Call to come and serve as our Associate Pastor.

In the summer of 1966, the Hunneshagens headed back to the Seminary and Intern Bill Orner and his wife arrived to spend a year with us.

August 30, 1966 Pastor Guth and family moved into the newly decorated parsonage at 1900 Tuxedo.  He was installed on Sunday, September 11th by the Reverend Calvin Risch, assistant to the President of the Ohio District.

On October 9, 1966 the congregation honored Pastor Willmann for the 20 years he had served as their pastor with a special service held at Parma Senior High School.  A gift from the congregation made it possible for the Willmanns to spend 6 weeks in Scandinavia and Western Europe in the summer of 1967.

In 1967 our news reporter, Dorothy Renker, assumed the Editorship of the Cleveland Lutheran Messenger.  She rendered a valuable service for Lutheranism in our area.

On July 15, 1967, William Orner and wife returned to Columbus, Ohio after spending their year of Internship with us.  Donald Lowe arrived for his Internship.  He was the last of our 13 Interns.  Each one found it a valuable experience, and the congregation benefitted by the variet of talents and personalities the Interns brought with them.

Late in 1967 several members of our congregation, along with a few neighborhood people met to study the needs of a neighborhood Senior Citizens group.  This led to the formation of the Broadview Senior Citizens Club which was officially organized on March 31, 1968, with a membership of 50.  The first officers were President Henrietta Rohlik; Vice-President Fred Vogel; and Treasurer Norman Olsen.  The club still meets regularly at Parma Lutheran.

The Ash Wednesday evening service in 1968 marked the first year that we offered the Holy Supper of our Lord at an Ash Wednesday Service.

On February 4, 1968, a special dedication service was held for the Silver Furnishings for the Chapel Altar.  Two flower stands, two candle holders, and a cross were dedicated in memory of Charles Einheit and Theresa Schey.  These memorials were given by their families.

The Baptismal Font in the Chapel is the one that had been used in the old church building from 1933-1960.  It was given by Mr. and Mrs. William Korchoff.

Parma Lutheran’s third son to enter the Holy Ministry was Donald Wilkowski.  His Ordination Service was held on July 28, 1968.  Don’s first parish was in Plentywood, Montana, where he served as Assistant Pastor.

A farewell party was held on August 11, 1968 for Donald R. Lowe, our 13th and last young man to serve his Internship with us.

On June 15, 1969, at a special business meeting of the congregation, it was decided to remove the old church building and to prepare the site for parking.  The building was removed on August 7, 1969.

The parsonage at 1900 Tuxedo was sold, and Pastor Guth and family moved into the newly purchased parsonage at 1310 Brookview Boulevard on November 1, 1969.

On November 23, 1969, dedication for several gifts was observed at morning services.  The Flag Pole was given by Mr. & Mrs. Dan Sadlowski, in memory of her parents, Carl and Mildred Olsen; the American Flag was given my Mrs. Thelma Foerster in memory of her husband, August; the Christian Flag was given by Mr. & Mrs. William Detrick; the Altar Kneeler, knows as Prio-Dieu, was given in memory of Theresa Schey.  The Kneeler was made by Walter Saunders.

On December 28, 1969, Mr. & Mrs. Herman Schumacher were honored for their many years of service in decorating the Sanctuary for the Christmas season.  They were presented with a copy of the Holy Bible as a token of the congregation’s appreciation.

The year of 1970 opened with 1,792 Confirmed members, the greatest number in the history of PLC.  The Sunday School enrollment was 586.

Vince Mabey was chosen as the “Man of the Year” at the Father-Son Banquet for his years of faithful service on the Stewardship Campaigns and other activities.

The parking lot on the site of the old church building was ready for use on May 1, 1970.

Due to the closing of the Forestvue Picnic Grounds on Ridgewood Drive, the annual church picnic was moved to Concordia Picnic Grounds in Valley View.  It was held there for the next four years, then moved to the Lutheran Vets Club Picnic Grounds (Stonehill) in Independence.

On April 22, 1971, a Bethel Bible series Rally was held to promote the Bethel Series throughout the world.  We raised $1,188.00 which was presented to the Reverend Harley Wiggum, author of the series.

The week of May 21-31, 1971, 102 persons attended the Family Gathering at lutheran Memorial Camp, Fulton, Ohio.

Eugene Enderlein, a former member, was ordained on June 13, 1971, in the Free Lutheran Church, Duluth, Minnesota.  His wife is the former Beverly Bass from our congregation.

On June 17, 1971, Congregational President Merle Crowl and Pastor Willmann delivered the check for the final payment on the Church Building Debt. To Cleveland Trust Bank.

In 1971, a Saturday, 6:00 PM worship service was added to the schedule for June, July, and August.

Mortgage Burning Services were held on September 12, 1971.  Those participating in the ceremony were:  Walter Facer, Donald Craig, Merle Crowl, Fred Vogel, William Bochkoros, Erwin Schumacher, and Paul Schellhase.

The Women of the Church met on September 18, 1971, at Camp Corde for their first annual retreat.  This tradition continues twelve years later.

The congregation honored Pastor Willmann on October 3, 1971, for his 25 years of service at Parma Lutheran.

Storm windows were installed on all the Art Glass Windows of the Sanctuary at a cost of $4,970.  New drapes were also purchased for the school rooms.

Sixteen families donated 4 trees and 23 shrubs for the Church Beautification Project, directed by Dan Chatham, chairman of the Garden Committee.  The gifts were given as memorials.

Pastor Willmann was one of four men honored by the Cleveland Council of Churches on May 8, 1971, at its 60th Anniversary Dinner.  He had served on various committees, been a member of the Council for 25 years, and on the WERE Radio Program known as The Pastor’s Study, for 13 years.  In 1957-58 he served as the Council President, the first Lutheran to hold that position.

Mrs. Katherine Weidus and her children provided the church sign facing North Avenue, in memory of John Weidus, husband and father.  A beautiful aluminum tripod was donated by Edward Ayres in memory of his wife, Evelyn.  Mrs. Anna Ayres provided a matching tripod in 1974 in memory of her husband, Edward Ayres.

A Choir Director’s Desk was dedicated in memory of Victor Auping, at the late worship service on March 5, 1972.  It was presented by his family and friends.  Victor was a Charter Member of the congregation and of the choir.

On July 2, 1972, Pastor Willmann preached his farewell sermon.  In honor of 26 years of faithful service, he was given the title of Pastor Emeritus by the congregation.

Associate Pastor Alan Guth continued to guide the congregation until Pastor Reginald H. Holle arrived as Senior Pastor on January 1, 1973.  Pastor Holle had been serving Salem Memorial Lutheran Church in Detroit, Michigan.  He was installed at both morning services on January 8, 1973, by the Reverend Paul Moeller, D.D., Ohio District President.  A reception followed in the evening.

On May 6, 1973, Associate Pastor Alan Guth preached his farewell sermon before going to St. Mark Lutheran Church, Dayton, Ohio, where he was installed on May 13, 1973.

In August of 1973, over 40 youth and sponsors boarded a bus for the National Luther League Convention to be held in the Astrodome in Houston, Texas.

Our current newsletter, “Son Beams,” came into existence during the year 1973.

In October, 1973, Twila Willmann was recognized for her 25 years of teaching and the training of teachers in the Sunday School.

On November 6, 1973, the Reverend David L. Schellhase was installed as Associate Pastor.  He came to us after a pastorate at St. Paul’s Lutheran Church in Ironton, Ohio.

The use of laity as lectors and worship assistants became a regular part of worship during the year 1974.

In December, 1974, the Luther Leaguers presented the first annual Christmas Follies with the donations going to the purchase of large print Bibles for the elderly and sight-impaired.  The Sunday School’s  Christmas Pageant, “Peter’s Privelege,” featured slides of various scenes revolving around the Christmas story.  Scenes were filed at the Parma Historical Society Farm on Ridge Road.

In 1975 Merle Crowl completed 7 years of faithful service as President of PLC.

“He Lived the Good Life,” a comtemporary musical about the lift of Christ was performed by the youth of Parma Lutheran in 1976.  As part of Parma’s bicentennial celebration at Byers Field, the group performed before a crowd of more than 3000.  At the same celebration, Parma Lutheran Church won the best float trophy for its entry in the Bicentennial Parade.

Also in 1976, Parma Lutheran and Divinity Luther helped to support a refugee family of 10 from Vietnam - Dr. An, his wife, mother-in-law, six children and nephew.  Members of both congregations offered food, furniture and funds for the renting of a home.  They helped the family adjust to America by continued support.

In 1977 Pastor Reginald H. Holle completed a Doctor of Ministry Program and was awarded that degree at services at Parma Lutheran Church.  The degree paper was entitled, “Priestly Partners in Parish Development.”  It centered around the theme of all people - laity and clergy alike - being part of the priesthood of all believers.  That paper became the foundation work for a later constitutional change attempting to involve more of the laity of the congregation in leadership, planning, development and carrying out of Christ’s mission.

PLC’s 1977 Basketball tream joined the 1953 team as champions of their respective leagues.

In 1977 Jack Kempf was elected President of the Congregation and  served faithfully for the next 6 years.  The practice of having “Quiet Communion” services on one Sunday afternoon each month for members who were unable to participate in the regular Holy Communion services was begun in this year.

In May of 1978, Pastor Holle was elected the Bishop of the Michigan District of the American Lutheran Church.  A Call was sent to Pastor David Schellhase in July, offering him the position of Senior Pastor.  A farewell reception for Pastor Holle and his wife Marla, was given in August, and Pastor Schellhase was installed as Senior Pastor on October 7, 1978.  Pastor Dave’s father, the Reverend Norman Schellhase was guest preacher and officiated at the installation ceremonies.

The green hymnal, the Lutheran Book of Worship, became part of the Sunday service in December of 1978.

An Ordination service was held on June 11, 1978, for Jonathan Kosec.  Pastor Holle officiated at the Ordination Service.

In 1979 the youth presented an original Christian musical by Nancy Schellhase entitled, “The Song.”

In 1980 personal hearing devices were made available for the hearing impaired.  New doors were installed at main entrances to help with conservation of heat loss.

1980 was the first year of Lenten Soup Suppers.  The proceeds went to the cause of World Hunger.

A tape ministry for shut-in members was started and has proved a blessing to many members.

1980 was the last year of use for the original Constitution for PLC.  A new Constitution was drafted calling for 9 committees to function under the direction of the Executive Committee.  The new Constitution and By-Laws were approved and adopted in 1980.

A celebration of Pastor Willmann’s 50th year of Ordination highlighted the month of July, 1980.

Pastor Schellhase was elected President of the Parma Ministers’ Association in 1980.

Lenten Services in 1981 were unique as Pastors Schellhase, Baker, and Landeck portrayed characters from the Passion History each week.

In late 1981 a committee was formed to organize and coordinate events for celebration of Parma Lutheran’s 50th Anniversary which would be held in 1983.  Their first meeting was held on October 6, 1981.  They continued to meet regularly till the 50th Anniversary celebration concluded in June, 1983.

The renovation of the educational unit including the kitchen, offices, and other rooms was completed in 1982 at the cost of $180,000.

The year of 1983 was a year of celebration of PLC.  “Together in Christ’s Ministry” was chosen to be the theme of the Anniversary year.  On January 23, 1983, the first of six special monthly worship services was held in commemoration of PLC’s 50th Anniversary.  “Praise the Lord” was the sermon message delivered by Pastor Emeritus R. Wayne Willmann that day.  A social hour was held in the newly renovated Fellowship Hall between services.  Many historic pictures were displayed throughout the church and educational unit along with various other historic memorabilia.  After the late service a potluck dinner was held; it was followed by the Annual Congregational meeting.

On February 27, 1983, Scott Cigich, a son of Parma Lutheran congregation and student at Trinity Seminary, was the guest preacher.  Also participating in the service were William Matlack and Robert Yankovitz, also students at Trinity Seminary from Parma Lutheran.

On March 20, 1983, the Reverend Karl Gaston, Pastor of Triune Lutheran in Broadview Heights (daughter congregation of PLC) delivered the sermon at the special services for that month.

The celebration continued in April with two big events on April 24, 1983.  The reverend Alan Guth, Pastor of St. Mark’s in Dayton, Ohio and a former Intern and Associate Pastor of Parma Lutheran, was the guest preacher at the special anniversary services held that morning.  After the second service, a free lunch was provided by the members of the Luther League.  Following lunch, a Youth Ministry Auction was held with the Luther League receiving close to $1,750 profit from the various items sold at the auction.  Items auctioned off by the famous comedians, Laurel & Hardy (Pastor Dave & Pastor Keith).  Everyone had an enjoyable time.

The special service for May was held on May 29, 1983, with the Reverend Donald Hesterman, Pastor of Divinity Lutheran in Parma Heights (PLC’s first daughter congregation) as the guest preacher.

On May 31, 1983, a special congregational meeting was held for the consideration of the purchase of the store building, detached garage, and parcel of land located at 5294 Broadview Road, adjacent to the church property.  The congregation voted to proceed further with negotiations to obtain the property.

Six months of celebrating the 50th Anniversary of PLC was concluded with a gala weekend on June 11-12, 1983.  Open house was observed at the church on Saturday afternoon.  Everyone had a chance to visit with friends and look at the many historical photos on display.  Visitors were given tours of the newly renovated facilities.

The celebration continued that evening with the 50th Anniversary Dinner held at St. Sava’s Orthodox Cathedral Hall and attended by 266 friends of PLC, Dr. Reginald H. Holle, the Bishop of the Michigan District of the American Lutheran Church and former pastor of PLC. Was the keynote speaker.  “How Old Are You?” was the title of the message delivered by Dr. Holle.

Opening greetings were given by Pastor David Schellhase.  Arch Stevenson was the Master of Ceremonies for the evening which included music and entertainment to go along with the various presentations and speeches.  Proclamations from the City of Parma were presented by Councilman Joseph A. Molodec.  The Parma Public Schools were represented by Miss Marsha Harrison, Deputy Superintendent.

Congregational President Robert Auping introduced various guests.  Former pastors Schmidt and Willmann each added a few words about PLC’s history.  The Reverend Dean Hunneshagen, a former Intern at PLC, and the Reverend Jonathan Kosec, who was ordained at PLC, also shared their memories.  The closing prayer was given by Pastor Keith Baker.

Some former members who traveled great distances to be in attendance included: Bob and Lois Stueber from Albuquerque, New Mexico, members of the Horn family from Virigina, Michigan, and Ohio, Arline Dort from Atlanta, Georgia, Lee and Pat Cigich from Marion, Indiana.  Mildred Koons, Don and Marie Ritcher, and Darryl Kinion came from various parts of Ohio to celebrate with us.

Members of the clergy also traveled many miles with the Schmidts coming from Fort Worth, Texas, the Kosec’s from Bourbonnais, Illinois, the Holle’s from Michigan, and the Hunneshagen family from Depew, New York.

On Sunday, June 12th, 1983 Special Anniversary Worship Services were held with the Reverend Walter P. Schmidt, retired former PLC Pastor, delivering the sermon.  “Your Secret of Success” was the title of the message given my Pastor Schmidt.

A beautiful wooden Processional Cross and matching Torch Holders were used during the Processional and Recessional.  The Cross was a gift from Joe and Margaret Meszaros and the Torch Holders were given by Norm and Julie Berghaus.  These gifts, in honor of PLC’s 50th Anniversary, were designed and made by Don Sommer.

Throughout the year two beautiful banners depicting our 50th Anniversary theme were used during worship services.  The banners were the result of the artistic talents of Helen Soucek & Harry Rychak.

The final event for the 50th Anniversary Year celebration was the Annual Picnic held Sunday afternoon, June 12th, 1983 at Stonehill Park in Independence, Ohio.  Approximately 300 attended and had an enjoyable afternoon.

The picnic made a delightful finish to an exciting weekend and six months of celebration of Parma Lutheran’s 50th Anniversary under the theme, “Together in Christ’s Ministry.”

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1March 6, 1984
Parma Hunger Center opened at PLC

September 23, 1984
The Reverend Dan Sander installed as Senior Pastor

July 13, 2986
The Reverend Randy Olson installed as Associate Pastor

January 1, 1988
ELCA was formed

January 20, 1991
The Reverend Jon Paulus installed as Associate Pastor

August 13, 1991
Secretary Joanne Swaysland started.

September 18, 1994
Parish Nurse was installed.

December 14, 1997
The Reverend James D. Eckert installed as Senior Pastor

July 12, 1998
The Reverend Marilou Brook installed as Associate Pastor

November 24, 1999
The Reverend Joyce E. Taipale installed as Associate Pastor

November 27, 2005
The Reverend Donald E. Frantz II installed as Pastor

